Not approved until next meeting
 LIBERTY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

September 10, 2019	Meeting Summary	7:00 p.m.

I.	Call to Order 

The Liberty Planning and Zoning Commission met on Tuesday, September 10, 2019, in the Council Chambers, City Hall, 101 East Kansas Street. A quorum being present, Chairman Rosekrans called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
[bookmark: _GoBack]
II.	Roll Call

Commission members in attendance were: Rick Boswell, Patricia Evans, Walt Holt, Amy Howard, Tom Reinier, Dee Rosekrans and Ann Waterman.  Judy Dilts and Ken Personett were absent.  Representing staff were Katherine Sharp, Director of Planning and Development; Michael Peterman, City Planner; and Ben McCabe, Assistant Director of Public Works.  9 members of the public were in attendance.

III.	 Approval of Minutes 

Chairman Rosekrans asked if there were any questions or comments related to the minutes from the July meeting.

Commissioner Holt identified a wording error in the minutes.

Staff identified the misspelling and will amend the July minutes.
 
Commissioner Holt moved to approve the regular session minutes from the July 9, 2019 meeting and Commissioner Howard seconded the motion. The minutes were approved 7-0-0. 

IV.	19-28R&PDP: Rezoning & Preliminary Development Plan for Liberty Parkway Plaza. Approximately 1,000,000 sf of industrial and commercial buildings on 70 +/- acres south of SLP between US 69 and Flintlock   [Public Hearing]

Ms. Sharp presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Commissioner Holt asked for a clarification on the requested variances.

Ms. Sharp stated the two variances included relief from streamside and riparian buffers due to the rerouting of the creek and the request to have utilitarian areas (dock doors) facing public Right-of-Way.

Commissioner Boswell asked if the proposed signage required a variance.

Ms. Sharp stated that signage was being proposed as allowed within the parameters of the Planned Development zoning district.  No variance is required.

Commissioner Holt asked about the allowance for a typical monument sign.

Ms. Sharp said that a monument sign for a single business in a commercial district would be 8 feet tall and 50 square feet of signage area.  A shopping center sign could be up to 72 square feet and 8 feet tall. 

Commissioner Boswell stated that the number of parking spaces seemed low for such a large building.
Ms. Sharp stated that Industrial type uses are allowed to request the amount of parking they require.  The use in this space is yet to be identified and the parking may change based on the users requirements.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if the building footprint was identified in the plans.

Ms. Sharp identified the building footprints shown on the plan.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if the state DNR and the Federal, Corps of Engineers, would have further approvals or conditions the developer would have to meet to move forward with this project.

Mr. McCabe stated that their processes are separate from the City’s, but the developer would have to meet any conditions from those entities to move forward with the project. 

Chairman Rosekrans stated that he had a written question from Commissioner Dilts who couldn’t attend the meeting.  Commissioner Dilts asked what the definition of a Gateway from the City’s comprehensive plan.

Ms. Sharp pointed out recommendation 14 from the Blueprint for Liberty, the City’s comprehensive plan, referring to a Gateway.  She stated that this proposed development is unique to the area as it is not a strip center as seen in other cities; the commercial and industrial development will be of high quality materials and will be held to high standards in architecture and landscaping.

Chairman Rosekrans asked that if this is a gateway to the City, then is it a good idea to allow dock doors to be facing the South Liberty Parkway.  He wondered if that could be solved by an appropriate amount of landscaping and distance.

Commissioner Holt asked how the stream was being diverted.

Mr. McCabe stated that the flow of water would be through redesigned open channels and box culverts around the large building and exiting at the same place it currently does.

Commissioner Holt asked if there were any examples of projects in the City with dock doors facing the right-of-way.

Staff said that they did not know of any off hand but would research the request for City Council.

Commissioner Boswell asked where the proposed open space was located on the site.

Ms. Sharp stated that the open space is located throughout the site and that it does meet the 20% required by the code.

Commissioner Reinier stated that he was concerned about the traffic caused by adding two addition traffic lights on South Liberty Parkway.

Mr. McCabe stated that the city will coordinate the traffic light system with the MoDOT system at the I-35/US 69 Hwy interchange and Project Green Light to allow for the proper flow of traffic.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if the applicant would like to speak.

Hunter Harris, Lane 4 Properties, 4705 Central St. KCMO 64112, the applicant, stated that his group is purchasing the property from John Ferguson.  He also stated that there were previously approved Corp of Engineers 404 permits from previous projects.  His group is updating those permits and expects the permits to be reapproved.  

Mr. Harris gave a presentation that discussed his development group and previous projects they were involved with around the metro.  He believes this is a good project and will be an economic draw for the City with new jobs and businesses.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions for the applicant.

Commissioner Holt asked the applicant if there were any examples of projects in the City with dock doors facing the right-of-way.

Mr. Harris stated that he did not know of any.  He also stated that the proposed landscaping and primary view of the area with the doors will be screened from view of South Liberty Parkway.

Commissioner Holt asked how many users the largest building was envisioned for at present.

Mr. Harris said the project is speculative but that the largest building is more geared for a few users with needs for very large space.  The two smaller buildings will be geared towards users with small office needs and some storage or small workshops.

Chairman Rosekrans asked what types of uses are envisioned for the commercial area.

Mr. Harris said the commercial area is envisioned for food and service uses.

Commissioner Boswell asked what the anticipated employment will be at full build out of the project.

Mr. Harris said that it was hard to say without specific users identified.  He speculated that 300 employees is a possibility.

Commissioner Holt asked when the industrial building will be built; when user is identified or as speculative building.

Mr. Harris stated that his company is not actively marketing the property until this initial rezoning approval is secured from the City Council.  They will likely build the building before a user is identified.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if he was driving down South Liberty parkway after this project is completed, what would he see as he looked toward the site.

Mr. Harris stated that he would likely see landscaping and the top portions of the buildings.

Chairman Rosekrans opened the public hearing portion for this case. He asked if anyone in the audience wished to speak.

Ralph Boots, Liberty Economic Development, 5 Victory Lane, Liberty, MO.  He stated from an economic perspective that this type of development is needed in Liberty.  He said that of 111 leads he has addressed, 54 were looking for existing buildings of 100,000 sq. ft. or more.  Liberty did not have the inventory of this type of building.  He is excited to work with the Lane 4 group and bring capital investment and jobs to Liberty.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if anyone else in the audience wished to speak seeing no one, he closed the public hearing.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Holt moved to approve the case with the two variances as presented in the staff report.   Commissioner Waterman seconded the motion.

Commissioner Holt stated that the aesthetics of this project are critical.
Chairman Rosekrans read a statement from Commissioner Dilts for the record:

My question for the Staff is whether Key Recommendation Fourteen (suggests that this this area at SLP and Pleasant Valley be built as a gateway and create a sense of arrival and distinguish Liberty from other communities) is met by this plan?  If so, great. If not, why not? Do we still want gateways? If we do, is there something the developer can do to create a gateway (other than the interstate sign that indicates the exit as Pleasant Valley and Liberty?)

Vote: Motion passed 7-0-0
Yes: Boswell, Evans, Holt, Howard, Reinier, Rosekrans, and Waterman
No: None
Recusal: None

Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on Monday, September 23, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.

V.	19-29PP:  Preliminary Plat for Liberty Parkway Plaza. 11 lots & 4 Tracts on 70 +/- acres south of SLP between US 69 and Flintlock

Ms. Sharp presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked if applicant would like to speak.
Hunter Harris, Lane 4 Properties, 4705 Central St. KCMO 64112, the applicant, said he and his team were available for questions. 

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any further questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Waterman moved to approve the case as presented.   Commissioner Boswell seconded the motion.

Vote: Motion passed 7-0-0
Yes:  Boswell, Evans, Holt, Howard, Reinier, Rosekrans, and Waterman
No: None
Recusal: None

Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on Monday, September 23, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.


VI.	19-37FDP:  Final Development Plan for Tract 17 of Oakwood Business Park.  15,600 sf industrial bldg. on 1.68 acres

Commissioner Holt recused himself from the case due to a possible conflict of interest.

Mr. Peterman presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked if applicant would like to speak.

John Erpleding, Ollson & Associates, representing the applicant, Jim Robertson stated that this is a build out of similar buildings in the business park.  He is available to answer any questions.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any further questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Howard moved to approve the case as presented.   Commissioner Evans seconded the motion.

Vote: Motion passed 6-0-1
Yes:  Boswell, Evans, Howard, Reinier, Rosekrans, and Waterman
No: None
Recusal: Holt

Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on Monday, September 23, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.

VII.	19-39FDP:  Final Development Plan for B&B Theater for a 26,000 sf office addition.

Mr. Peterman presented the proposal as described in the staff report.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any questions of staff.  

Chairman Rosekrans asked if applicant would like to speak.

Ron Cowger of AGC Engineers, representing the applicant stated they were happy to be bringing the B&B Theater corporate office to Liberty.  He is available for questions.

Chairman Rosekrans asked if the building would be sharing a wall with the theater or be a free standing building.

Mr. Cowger stated they have not designed the structural part of the building yet, but it will likely not share a wall with the theater so the theater is not disrupted in the construction of this addition.  They will be next to each other with no gaps in between.

Chairman Rosekrans asked the commissioners if they had any further questions, seeing none he asked for a motion.

Action: Commissioner Boswell moved to approve the case as presented.   Commissioner Reinier seconded the motion.

Vote: Motion passed 7-0-0
Yes:  Boswell, Evans, Holt, Howard, Reinier, Rosekrans, and Waterman
No: None
Recusal: None

Chairman Rosekrans said this case would be heard in front of the City Council on Monday, September 23, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.



VIII.	Public Comments
There was no public comment.

IX.	Other Business
a. Ms. Sharp updated the Commission on current development projects.  

X.	Future Meeting Schedule

The next regular session is scheduled for Tuesday, October 8, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 

XI.	Adjournment
Commissioner Waterman moved to adjourn, Commissioner Reinier seconded. Chairman Rosekrans adjourned the meeting at    8:14pm.
	Page 1	
